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Side A

It is April 10, 2002, and T am speaking with Colleen Sehr at her home
in Towa City about her experiences teaching in a one-room school.

This is Colleen Sehr, and I'm going to give my interview about
teaching in the rural schools of Johnson County.

Colleen, could you tell me where you taught and for how long?

Yes, I taught in two one-room country schools from 1951 to 1961. I
taught in Sharon No. 2, which was called Willow Grove, for two years.
Then I went to Sharon No. 6, which was called the Bayertown School,
because it was near the little tiny town of Bayertown. 1T was there
eight years.

So, then you were there for eight years at Bayertown?

Yes, I had some students for almost all their grades, because of being
there for eight years.

Could you tell me a little bit about what led you to become a teacher?

Well, T really hadn't thought about it in high school, as far as that
being a goal of mine. But when I was a senior, I was an officer of a
club at City High, and the girls' advisor, Elizabeth Winbigler, was
the advisor of that group. There was a convention in Waterloo, so she
took me to the convention one Saturday, and after it was over I asked
her if we could drive over to Cedar Falls to see my best friend who
graduated a year ahead of me. She was kind enough to take me there.

T saw the campus at Cedar Falls, at that time it was called Towa State
Teachers College. So it was primarily for teacher training. Well, T
just fell in love with it, and I thought, oh, T would love to go
there! Now, T really have to be honest. Tt wasn't so much that I
wanted to be a teacher as it was T didn't want to just go to the
university here, and if I went on to college that's probably what I
would have to do. So, T did go to Cedar Falls, and when I came home
there was an opening at the school that T had gone to. The Willow
Grove board talked to my dad. It was more or less decided that 1 was
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going to teach there. It was a good experience, but it wasn't the
best choice going back to a school that I had gone to. Some of the
students had been in school when I was. It was a little bit different
than T thought it would be. There were some very strict old order
Amish that had moved into the district since I had gone to school
there, and T made a wrong choice when the photographer came around to
take the students' pictures, as they did when I went there. Everyone
had their pictures taken, you sent them home, and then if the parents
wanted them they sent their money back. TIf they didn't want any of
them, they sent the pictures back. T had everyone's picture taken,
and no knowing that was really something very much against their
religion in that T had their "image" taken, as they told me. They
also were very opposed to my having my hair cut, and because T wore
lipstick, they told me I had blood on my 1lips.

How o0ld were you?

I was only 19. So, it was very disheartening. But all the rest of
the parents and students were so supportive. It was a good two

years. But when another board president, Paul Bailey, came to me and
asked me if I'd be interested in coming to Bayertown School. I said
yes, I would like to. Well, it was a completely different experience
in that they were mostly all students from landowners, making it a
very stable school environment. Many of them had been in the
community for generations. Some of the students' parents had gone to
the school. So, there was complete, complete support and a respect
for the school. T had a wonderful, wonderful group of students and
parents. Because of being there eight years, 1 formed lasting
friendships that T still have with them today and many of the parents,
also. So, T would say the reason that I got into it really was
because of that trip to Cedar Falls with Ms. Winbigler. Then Grace
Ferns became the supervisor of all the rural schools in 1950. She was
such a wonderful support. She came around and visited our schools.
The students really locoked forward to her coming, because they loved
to show off their skills. TIf you had any questions, she was there to
ask, and she always gave you praise that encouraged you to even do
better. So, I would say T had two mentors. Grace Ferns was indeed my
biggest, biggest mentor. Also, Elizabeth Winbigler played an
important part in my life. And T'm really happy to say that both of
those ladies came to my retirement dinner when I retired in 1993.

They came to Marshalltown, they stayed in a motel, and they spoke at
my dinner, and it just gave me so much pride.

If you could think back to your training at UNI at that time, how
long was the training?

At that time, T only went one year. Then you took a test, I guess to
whether or not you tested out of the second year courses. Most of the
people then were only getting two-year degrees. But you could get a
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one-year degree if you continued on working on your degree. So, 1T
took nights and Saturday classes and summer schools for many, many,
many years to get first my two-year and then my four-year and then my
master's. Also, I have just about 15 hours left for my doctorate.

So, it was many, many nights, summers and Saturday classes. I think
that T was so much better able to benefit from those classes because 1T
actually was teaching. So, when they would be talking about something
or some method that you should try, I could go back the next day and
try it. Or I could say to myself, no, that doesn't work. I know that
I've done that and it doesn't work. It just was so much more
meaningful because T was already in the field, and, of course, because
I wanted the help. It wasn't just that I was going through this 1list
of classes to cross them off to get my degree.

That makes sense. You had mentioned your first two years at the one
school, the challenge with cutting your hair and lipstick. How did
you resolve those? What did you do?

Well, T didn't change anything at all, because there was only one
family that questioned me, he was the "preacher" of his church but I
didn't change anything. T certainly didn't have their pictures taken
a second year, that's for sure. They told me that they were very,
very, upset with me because I had a mirror in the classroom. T never
ever even thought about it. As a matter of fact, way back then when
they came to me being so upset about their boys' "image", I really
didn't know what they were talking about. T didn't take the mirror
down. There were about 28 other kids there that used the mirror to
look presentable and comb their hair and everything when they came in

from playing ball or coasting or whatever. They never pursued the
issue, either.

How often were you paid, do you recall, when you first were hired?

Yes, 1 do. We were paid once a month, and I don't remember numbers
very well--figures--but I do remember what my salary was. It was $200

a month, and that was in 1951. Surprisingly enough, T was staying at
home because I was keeping house for my dad, and with $200 a month,

because living at home, I wasn't ga{in rent, I was able to get a 1950
car. I was able to pay off all o hat one year's college, and I was

able to get a very, very nice bedroom outfit, plus, other things, that
first year. So, it shows even though you didn't earn very much,
things were so much cheaper.

Do you recall at the end of your ten-year tenure how much you were
making then?

I really don't know for sure. I looked--I was going to look through
these things before you came. T do remember seeing some contracts
from Sharon No. 6, but T don't remember if that was completely at the
end. But it was in the $400 range.



Project Number: Narrator: Colleen Sehr Page 4

Interviewer: Jan Losby Date of Interview: 04/10/02
Interview Length: Transcribed by: Shirley Stockman
Retyped by: Caroline Will

How often was your performance reviewed? You mentioned Grace Ferns.
Was that part of her role?

It was. The first year T had been reffing a basketball game, and T
hurt my ankle really, really badly the first recess, but you couldn't
do anything about it. T mean, what would you do? There was no one
else there to take over for you, so I stayed the rest of the day, and
it was broken. So, T was in the hospital for a couple days. I was on
crutches, and T had the crutches behind a stove, just out of the way,
and T sat at my desk. When I had that injury, T would have the
students get me a certain reading manual, or T would have them get me
this or whatever, and if they had a question, T always asked them to
come up to the desk. There was a man, his name was Mr. Rose. That
was his role to come and evaluate. At recess when the kids went out,
he gave me lots of praise and so on, but he said, "There is one thing
that T don't understand at all, and that's why you don't get up and
walk around more, and that you have the kids wait on you so much."
One of the students was in the building, so T pointed and he brought
my crutches so than he laughed.

He understood.

But no deference to Mr. Rose, but he really wasn't any help. For a
first year teacher, if I would have been having real problems that
would have been sad. But when Mrs. Ferns came, it was a complete,
complete difference. She had meetings for us. They were held in the
big courtroom at the Court House the first before school started--all
teachers. She had an agenda laid out to the minute. She would,
perhaps, have a speaker. She would tell us of any new textbooks or
any new rules or whatever. She was a very, very organized person.
There was a library downstairs in the Court House. Her office and
Mr. Snider's the county superintendent, offices were downstairs.

At the Johnson County Court House?

We were to come in and get Library books. They had a big library out
in the hall with doors on them, and we were to come in and get library
books, because our libraries were so limited. TI'm sure T probably
came in and got books more than any other teacher in the county,
because we could leave school right after school if we were going to

the library. Of course, T had lots of fiends in Towa City and I was
coming in anyway.

What hours were your school day?

It was B8:00-4:00.

And then you had--
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N: We had a recess about 10:00 and about 2:30. Then we had an hour at

N:

I:
N:

noon for lunch and play. So that really was our phys. ed. We had
ball games. T went out and coasted with the kids and all the Andy

Over and those kind of games. So, the kids really enjoyed their play
time.

What is Andy Over?

Andy Over is--you pick two sides, and one side is on the other side of
the school, then you throw the ball over, like a rubber ball or soccer
ball, or something like that. You say Andy Over and then the other
side, when they catch it--isn't that funny, T almost forgot. T think
they start to come around, and if they hit you with the ball, then
you're on their side.

I see.

At Sharon No. 2, we had such a tall, tall building that it was a
challenge for them to throw the ball over.

So, they're on each side of the school.
Yes, divided up.

And then you said coasters? What was that?
Coasting. Sleds. Coasting on the hills in fields next to the school.
Oh.

Yes. We had a lot of hills around there--not in the school yard, but
we would go over to a neighbor's field.

In the winter time.

They built snow forts and all of that type of thing that really was
fun for them, but it was also very good exercise. They got a lot of
exercise walking to school, too.

Do you recall, were there different rules for men and women as
teachers? Were there any men, male teachers in the district?

There had been a man teacher at Sharon No. 6 before I came, but I
don't remember any different rules. I'm sure there weren't.

Mrs., Fenrs would know.

I'11 ask her that question. Was there a dress code for you?

No, there wasn't a dress code. T don't know whether it was just the
era, but T don't remember wearing slacks. You know, when you were a
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N:

child, you wore snow pants. Do you know what I mean by them? They
were heavy--like ski pants almost.

Like nylon?

No, it was just more the wool then. As a student T had long stockings
that I wore. So, see, we didn't have slacks, or you didn't wear
slacks then. You wore skirts and long stockings, at least at the
schools that I went to. This is when I was a student.

So there wasn't, in terms of the students, a particular dress code,
but that was just the standard?

Yes.

In addition to teaching, did you have other duties that you needed to
do while you were in--what else did you do?

Lots of other duties! Again, the students were so wonderful and
cooperative. We had duties for them. T had a big poster, and on it
would be the duties. Their names would change every week. They
actually liked having something to do. They really almost welcomed
it. Two of them were to go out to the well and get the water. It
wasn't very far away. Tt would be like, you know from here to the
street, and two of them would go. Then they would fill this crock-
type cooler. It was their job to clean it out, also, on Friday.

So this is drinking water, as well as--?

Drinking water and washing their hands. We had a soap dispenser, so
they filled the scap dispenser. That was part of the water crew's
job.

And was the soap dispenser dry powder?

No, it was liquid. Then there was a bucket that hung on the spigot of
the crock-like water cooler. So, you pushed that--somebody would push

and then you would wash your hands at noon. Or, if you came in from
recess and your hands were dirty, it just a natural. They just did
it. You didn't have to ask them to do it. They just knew somebody
wanted to wash their hands, so they pushed that button, and then they
had a person washed. We had paper towels. We had paper cups. I know
I've heard Mrs. Ferns talk about everyone using the same cup when she
went to school, but even when I went to school we had our own cup.
Then when I taught, we had paper cups.

Just disposable then?
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N:

N:

Yes. We had outside outhouses for them to go to the bathroom--a boys
and a girls. Every Friday it was someone's job, a boy and a girl, to
sweep out--not that it needed it really that badly--but they checked
on the toilet tissue, and so on. The biggest job for me was the
sweeping, because of moving the desks. So, every Friday--well, not

everg Friday, but many Frida¥s--ve had sweeping compound. It was a
red dust--sawdust like--and 1'd spread it around the last recess, and
then I"d let the kids slide all over. They'd chase each other and
slide. The girl that talked at that meeting, she remembered that as
one of the fun experiences. Of course, that would work the oil in,

and it would just polish the floor and shine it like it was waxed.
And then you would have to sweep up the compound.

Except I had a family of three that were on my way home. They stayed
so often to help me, oh so often. They did such a wonderful job, that
it went so fast. Of course, we made fun of it and laughing and so

on. Then I had somebody that washed the blackboard and someone that
straightened up the library. When they were in charge of things like
that, they were more careful in caring for things.

This was at the Bayertown School?
Both of the schools.

Both had similar chores?

Yes.

What was--if you could describee the Bayertown School, actually, the
structure of the school itself?

It was a smaller school than Willow Grove, when you went in the door,
you were in the school. There wasn't a cloak room or an entry hall.
There were the hooks to the right as you would go in. The stove was
there, a flat-topped o0il burner, so I didn't have to worry about coal
or anything like that. Then around to the right of that were the
hooks for them to hang their coats. They put their boots right
underneath. T had newspapers for their boots in the winter time.
They cleaned them up at the end of the day.

Did children, did they bring an extra set of shoes, or did--?

No, they had overshoes that went over their shoes. Some of the kids
would bring some sort of meat, maybe a piece of beef or roast or
something, or hambuger, and carrots and potatoes, wrapped in aluminum
foil, and they'd put them on top of the stove when they came. Well,
about 11:00, oh, did that every smell good! This is another thing
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I:

that Kathy talked about. But then I had to change it that they could
only do it on certain days, because there were some families that
weren't able to do that, and then it made the others feel badly.

If they brought a sandwich or something that didn't need heating up.
Yes
So at the Bayertown School, then you were right in the classroom?

Yes, and I had rows of desks, and then I had a recitation table, T
called it. Tt was maybe not gquite as big as this--I'd say about 6
feet by 3 Or 4 feet wide, with 1little chairs around it. I would call
a grade. Let's say I would call second grade reading, and the second
graders would come up with their reading book and workbook, and then
they would sit there and we'd have our class. T would sit on the
end. We could correct their workbook or their papers right there,
because I saw them. I never liked to do any correcting unless the
student was looking on with me. Tt didn't mean anything, really, for
them to just get it back with some check marks if you didn't explain
why it was wrong or what would have been a better answer, or
whatever. 7T always talked very softly, because I didn't want to
bother the other students that were doing their work. PBecause of
doing that, it made the schoolroom very guiet. As you know, the
louder you talk, the louder everyone else gets. I've had to talk to
so0 many teachers when I was in administration that if they would just
talk more softly, their classroom wouldn't be so noisy. FKathy
mentioned that, too, that it was always very quiet.

So, the other students, while you were around the recitation table,
they were doing--

They were doing their own work. Then, in between classes, if they had
a question, they would raise their hand. Then, I'd either go to them
or they'd come up to me.

But the time when you were with the group at the table, the other
students wouldn't approach you.

No, And we talked about it a lot at the beginning of the year,
especially for the new kindergartners, that if I"m reading a story to
you and we're having fun talking about what is in your book, we don't
want someone to interrupt us. For instance, if it was math, I told
them to try to go on to another problem. Many times, if it was a
word, then they could go over to another student and point to the word
and, oh, of course, the other student felt good about helping them
out. So, it was like a family in that everyone helped each other.
Quite honestly, so different from what it is today. When someone who
had a difficult time got 100% in spelling, the other kids were just as
thrilled as they were. Also, T was a real stickler on grammar.
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I: Were you?

Oh, my yes! 1T had a chart. We started out every year with the word
"ain't". Anyone that got through the week without saying "ain't" --
now the ones that had been there--it was easy for them--they got a
gold star. Then if they ever said "ain't", I reminded them at the
time, and I said, "Oh, your gold star dropped on the floor." Then the
next word was usually "seen", and so on. Again, their speech and
their grammar were very good. On the Iowa Test of Basic Skills, on
the usage part, that was always one part that they really did well

on. But it was difficult in that some parents used those words. But
anyway, éifferent ones thanked me for that when they got older.

Were there particular days, for instance, you mentioned Fridays, you
would do some of your duties and chores. On Mondays, did you do
spelling, or was there a particular routine?

No, Monday, Wednesday and Friday, we had spelling. Another thing that
I was probably called a stickler for was handwriting. So, we spent a
class period on handwriting.

How long was a class period?

Well, it just depended, but we would spend 20 minutes to a half an
hour on handwriting, and each one would be at their own level. T had
the paper that was lined so the small letters would go up the the
dash, and the tall letters would go up to the top. They took pride in
their handwriting

And so, was that something every day, then, handwriting?

Usually, I think that was on Tuesdays and Thursdays when we didn't
have spelling.

I see. And then math, was that--?

Math was every day. Reading was every day, and T really don't
remember the schedule that well, but social studies, science, health,
language arts, were usually in the afternoon.

That's just remarkable, I mean, that you needed to be competent and
skilled in all of those areas, whereas now, you go to one teacher for
language, one teacher for math, one teacher--I mean, how did that feel
when you were starting out and even at the end of your ten years?
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N: You know, T guess because of going to a rural school and then teaching

N:

in one for so long, T didn't think of it. I do remember Mrs. Ferns
kept talking to me about going into either Towa City or somewhere to
teach, because she said the rural schools were going to close, and
besides, you're young, and you want to get another job, and so on.

But quite honestly, I was afraid that I couldn't that I thought to
teach one grade, T probably wouldn't know how. T don't know what made
me think that. Superintendent Lahr at Solon talked to Mrs. Ferns and
said that he would like to hire a 4th grade teacher, and she told him
about me. He talked to me and 1 decided go there. T thought, oh my,
oh my, and T remember I asked for the 4th grade curriculum, and he

looked at me kind of puzzled, but he got up on his shelf and handed me
a notebook so very thick, and that was the curriculum. So, T thought,
oh, I'm going to have to study that night and day. There was only one
copy, but I could have it for two weeks. T took it to a typist,
because T didn't type. Tt cost me a fortune to get that copied, and
they never looked at it once! Ha. It was just something, I guess,
they did for the State Department, and then they put it up on a

shelf. When I went to teach 4th grade, I just couldn't get over it.
Here was this wonderful janitor that came in at the end of the day.
Here was an art teacher, a music teacher, a P.E. teacher. I mean, it
was a piece of cake! Well, T thought why didn't I do this a long time
ago! BPBut, because I loved my job at Bayertown--if I would have heen
at a school that T didn't enjoy so much, then I would have been
disappointed T didn't do it sooner. Well, then, I probably would have
done it sooner.

Right.

I might have told you that after T taught 4th grade at Solon, I went
to California and taught. T had a student jump on me out there, so I
was off for a year and a half, had to come back here for surgery, and
I was on crutches. Solon called me and asked me if T would set up
their remedial reading program for them. They didn't know I was on
crutches, but they knew I was back. T agreed to do that, because T
thought T wouldn't have to have recess and etc. T can just sit most
of the day. A week before school started, they told me that Iowa City
did not want--or could not take special ed students anymore, that they
were going to have to start a special ed room and that I was going to
be the teacher. T just sald absolutely not! I thought, oh, I'll get
out of this. T said I'm not certified. They said we'll get you
temporary certification. 7T said, but T don't want to teach special ed
because T just know I wouldn't be good at it. There was no choice.
So, the students came back. They didn't want to be back in Solon.

The{ wanted to be with their friends in Jowa City. The first week was
just terrible, and then everything just turned around, and it was only

because of my experience in the country school that T could pull it
off. Because each student was at a different level, and because they
were such a small school they couldn't have an elementary special ed,
a junior high special ed, and a high school special ed. So, T had K
through 12 special ed.
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I: Oh, my!
N: But, because T had that background of teaching all those different

levels, T absolutely loved it. T was there 7 years. The University
would not put student teachers out with me, because they said "You
don't have a special ed room. We don't know what it is, but it isn't
a special ed room." The State Department came out and said we want
you to field test something. You're already doing it, but we're going
to have 3--we're going to have 18 in the state, but 3 junior high, and
it's called a resource room. So, I did, and that was when Iowa became
the first state that had mandated resource rooms in all their schools,
and now the nation has that mandate, that every school in the United
States have resource rooms. 7T know I couldn't have done that if I
wouldn't have had that rural school background.

When you were at the Bayertown School, if students had any
difficulties, would they have one-on-one time with you, say after
school or before school, or how did that happen?

No, they didn't stay after school, because they walked home with their
brothers and sisters, or whomever and they had chores to do. They did
have one-on-one time with me, and then T had older students work with
them one-on-one, too.

During the class day--during the regular day.

Yes. T'll have to say that it's almost hard to believe--I said it
that day at the school in Coralville, and my student that was there
totally agreed. T really, really don't remember any serious
discipline problem. If they didn't have their work done or there was
something, sometimes I guess they had to stay in at recess. Not very
often. Because they loved recess so much, they weren't going to miss
that. T do think, too, that if they liked you, they wanted to please
you. They wouldn't do anything to not please you. T had two boys
that were through college tell me that--they laughed about it--they
said you never raised your voice, but we could always tell if you
were upset, because you'd take your glasses off and you'd raise one
eyebrow. T didn't even know I did it. They said that you never ever
had to raise your voice. Today teachers wouldn't believe that.

So, did you meet with parents? Did you have parent conferences?

Oh, yes, T had parent conferences, and it usually was the mother that
came. The last, oh, I'd say 5-6 years at Bayertown, I had it set up
where parents would come to visit. They had a certain time. T tried
it one time where some came together. Well, they'd sit in the back
together and talk. So, I had them come alone, i.e., Tuesday from
10:00 to 11:30. They would be sure and hear their children's reading
class and maybe their math class, or whatever. T had really good
response to that, again, because not too many of the mothers were
vorking.
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Side

N:

N:

Well, did you ever have any events when parents and kids were
together?

Yes, the biggest deal of all was the Christmas program. We had little
dialogues and skits and songs and duets and all kinds of things. Tt
was very hard after 8 years to get little one-act plays that we hadn't
had before.

Yes.

We put up the curtains--black curtains--that was a big deal. We had a
little stool and the little students got up on that and said their
little recitation in between acts, the little plays. We practiced and
practiced for that. We practiced with the singing and the music. T
can't sing, so we used the record player.

Was there a piano?

No. And my biggest weakness of all was in music. We had a record
player; we had all the songs that were in the song book on record.

They learned to sing with the record, because I couldn't even sing

Happy Birthday. We made jokes about that. Whenever someone would

have a real problem with math or something, and then I'd whisper to
them that everybody--

B
Speaking with Colleen Sehr. So, you're talking about the --

I would tell them if they had a weakness in some area that everyone
does have a weakness in something, and as they knew, mine was in
music. The parents would bring pies and desserts and candies and
cookies and all kinds of goodies, and then I guess they had to pay for
that, because we made money at that Christmas program to buy
playground equipment. T guess they paid for their pie or their cake
or whatever they had.

Was the Christmas program, then, in the evening?

Yes, fathers and mothers and whomever else would want to come. They
alwvays said it was really special, because that was the only time they
saw me in high heels. The last part of the year, maybe the last
couple weeks, we would take a field trip, and we would come to Iowa
City and go through the museum or WSUI or the dairy or whatever, and
parents would help drive for that. That was a real big thing, too.
Then the last day of school we had a picnic, and the parents brought
wonderful, wonderful food. Everything from fried chicken to who could
think of it. The parents, the mothers, put it out on the tables and
then everybody went through the line. We would have a ball game and
then they got their report cards.
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T:e That was the very last day?

N: Yes. The very last day, the school picnic. Tt was just luck, but T
never remember it raining on a school picnic. Because the, you know,
they'd have a big bkall game, too. We did play other schools even when
I went to school. We didn't do it very often, but we would play the
neighboring school in a softball game. Never basketball, it was
always softball.

I's Boys and girls both?

N: Yes.

Iz And on the last day of school, did the parents play with the kids?

N: No, they didn't.

Is Kids only?

N: Yes. A lot of times, the dads had to get back to the fields, and the
mothers were visiting with each other.

I: Sure. It was a social event, then.

N: It was, indeed, a social event. The students looked forward to it,
not only because it was the last day of school, but because it was a
fun day at school.

Is: At that time, when would have been the last day of school? In June
sometime? Or was it earlier”?

N: No, we were always out before Memorial Day.

8 | Really?

N: Yes, the only way I remember when we started was my birthday is August
27th, and we usua11¥ started a day or two before that. Because T
usually always was 1n school on my birthday. So, we didn't start in
mid-August. We started the last week and we were out the last week of
May. We had the Friday after Thanksgiving, and we had a week at
Christmas, but we didn't have any other vacation. We had 179 days of
school and 1 day of in-service. That was when Mrs. Ferns had her
meeting with us in the Court House.

T: When we first started talking, you mentioned that if you were going to

go to the library to pick up books you could leave right at 4:00. If
you didn't go to the library, was there an expectation that you would
stay and do something else at the school, or grade papers, or
something?
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N: Well, of course, you had to clean the school, and do your planning.

Maybe that was just with me. Because, I do know lots of other
teachers left just as soon as the kids left. But, like I said, I did

a lot of the paper correcting with the students so they could see
their mistakes and correct them. But, the lesson plans, looking up
other research and things, that's what you did after school.

What were the report cards like, and how often did you do that? Was
it just once a year?

No, it was every 6 weeks. They were the letter grades--A,B,C,D,E,F,

and then comments, and the attendance and the tardiness, and so on.
That was a job. That was a real job!

Every 6 weeks.

And to average up the grades and so on.
And did you give those to the students and they would bring them home?

Yes, you did give them to the students and they took them home. Then,
brothers and sisters--if Johnny brought one home, then they'd know to

ask Susie where hers was if she wasn't too happy about showing it.
Right.

But, again, very, very lucky that T didn't have anyone that really
would have qualified for remedial help. For the most part, they were

good students, and they worked hard.
Did you ever have to hold a student back?

No, T never did. T never did. T never even came close to it. I had
one in Sharon No. 2, but it was a case where he would have been in
special ed if there would have been a special ed. So, it wouldn't
have done any good to hold him back, because it wasn't his fault, and
he wouldn't have been able to really make that much progress.

You mentioned when you were at your first school and you broke your
ankle and you were in the hospital for 2 days. What--?

They just didn't have school.

They just didn't have school.

Yes, Many times, they'd get a sub, but I guess they couldn't get a sub
or something, because I was new. When I would have a sub, I would
have two ladies that they would get. They would never clean up
afterwards. If it was a muddy day or anything, you'd come back and it
was not too good.
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Did you have to make those arrangements?

No, T called the president of the school board and said, "I'm very
sorry, but I'm sick today." I went lots of times when I really
shouldn't have gone, but they would get the substitute.

What about in bad weather, how did you learn--would the school be
closed if there was a blizzard?

The president of the school board would call and say, "I don't think
we can have school today." Because, we were on a side road, so the
snow plow didn't go by there until lots later. There was a very bad
steep hill to get up to the school from the north.

The Bayertown School?

Yes, but T don't remember very often of it being closed. They didn't
want to close. They wanted--

To keep the 179 days. Did you ever have tornadoes or any weather
emergency?

Yes, T remember when--I always read to the students after noon

recess. They played hard, and it was a good chance for them to relax
and to rest up a little bit, so they really, really looked forward to

the story. T heard this car honking and honking and honking and
honking. T thought what in the world. Tt wasn't like they were

driving by. They were in the school yard. It was some of the
mothers. They said, "There's a tornado coming, there's a tornado
coming.." Then all of the cars started coming for the kids, and one
mother said--it was the one where the three kids helped me so much,
and it was on the way home, she said, "You come to our house. You
won't be able to get home." So, T went to their house. It didn't go
through there but it did go through--I saw the barn where it went
right through the barn and took the middle of the barn. We were up on
a high hill, so we would have been a good target. That's the only
time that I remember about the tornado scare. we had a telephone, and
we had a certain ring, like maybe a long, a short and a long, and that
was our ring, then I'd answer.

It was a party line?

Yes, so if parents ever heard the school ring, you'd hear click,
click, click, click as they all picked up the receiver.

Was there any sort of--you had mentioned the fund raiser with the
Christmas special. Were there any other sort of community events to
raise funds?
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N: No, quite honestly, I paid for a lot of the things just out of my own

I:

N:

I:
N:

money. But, like a new basketball or new bats, so something, and some
board games, we could get those with the Christmas money--Christmas
program money.

The last time I was here, you showed me a bell. Did you ring a bell
at the beginning of the school day and at the end?

Oh, yes, yes, yes, I surely did. I--when it was time to start school,
I rang that bell. Then they had five minutes to get drinks, washed
up and go to the bathroom, and so on, and then T had a little top bell
that T rang when it was time for them--now we're getting serious. Now
it's school time. T told you that was a big deal for me to get to

rin? that bell when I was in school. Tt's the same bell. So, they
would ask if they could ring the bell.

At the end of the day?

No, when it was time for them to come in from playing. Let's say I'd
be out, and I'd say, oh, T have to go in, it's time to go in. "Oh,
can I go in and ring the bell?" So that was kind of a big deal for
them.

So you rang the bell at the beginning--

At the beginning of the day--and then at every recess and at noon, and
then in the school if we were outside. The little bell, that tap
bell, is when "Now it's school time."

And did you ring that, then, between lessons and things like that?

No, never.

Just that initial--

Yes.

And after the five-minute warning, then they--
Yes.

I see. That makes sense. What was a graduation ceremony like?

Well, that was another big, big deal. Tt was at MacBride Hall, which
is right next to the 01d Capitol. They would have a wonderful
speaker,and Mrs. Ferns would be the one that would coordinate all of
that. They had a program that I think I showed you the last time, and
it would say, like, Sharon No. 2 and it would have the names of the
graduates, and Sharon No. 4 and so on. You walked across a stage,
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I:

just like you did, or do, in high school. They would hand you your
diploma. FEven the Amish and the Mennonites and everyone came. It was
a really, really nice, nice touch to everything. T told the group in
Coralville that T remember what the speaker at my eighth grade
graduation spoke about. Now, I defied anybody there to tell me what
their high school or college speaker spoke about. But this man talked
about the importance of saving water and wood. I thought, why is he
ever mixed up. We have so much water and so much wood, we'll never
run out. He talked about how we needed to plant trees when we cut one
down, and T thought he must be from a big city or something. He was
far ahead of his time!

Yes.

So, that was--we took the eight grade exam to see if you would pass to
be able to go to high school.

Only if you passed, you were eligible, is that right? How many, in
general, just thinking of your classes, how many of your students
would go on to high school?

At Bayertown, oh, 100% of the kids would go on to high school. TI'ad
say offhand many went on to college or some type of training--business
college or something like that. There was no doubt of anyone not
going on to high school.

I was thinking earlier when you talked about, I think it was the
Bayertown School, and you mentioned that many of the families were

landowners or farmers. Were the students affected by harvest time and
things like that? Did you see a trend where--?

Not so much as like when I was going to school. No one stayed at

home anymore to help with the harvest because of the big machinery and
sc on. When I was in school, there were some of the older kids that
would be out helping when they husked corn by hand, and they did some
of that, but not when I was teaching.

If you think about it, is there anything that, say for instance, if
someone would read your transcript fify years from now that you'd
really like for them to know that we haven't talked about, something
just memorable or even funny, or just some memory that is precious to
you as a one-room school teacher?

Oh, there were a lot of different ones, but one--a couple--one T
remember was a boy that was in about 6th or 7th grade that told a
little 1st grader that there wasn't any Santa Claus. It just broke
her heart. O course, I tried to convince her that he was just
kidding. 7Tt really, really bothered me. So, there was a department
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store here in Towa City that had the most beautiful, luxurious Santa
Claus suit for their Santa. T talked them into letting me borrow it
for a couple of house. T had a friend that was a little bit on the
Santa side of stature. So, he wore the Santa Claus suit, and my dad
drove him. We were up on a hill. He dropped him off, and then he
went on, so there was no car there. 7T was reading a story after
lunch, like I always did, and the kids were all up around me. T
talked about the kids often enough by name that this person knew a lot
of their names. But it was Kevin that had told the little giri,
Beverly, that there wasn't a Santa claus. So, when there was a knock
on the door, T said, "Kevin, would you get the door, please." He went
to the door and there was Santa, and he said "Kevin!" He came in, and
could call some of them by name. T had a little black boy. His name
was Byron. He talked to Byron and then, of course, little Beverly,
and so on. Then he had a little present for each one of them.
Purposely, the last one to get the present was Kevin, and he said,
"Oh, here it is, way down in the bottom. O©Oh, yes, it's got your name,
Kevin. Here it is."” T know that's something that Kevin never ever,
ever forgot. T didn't either. Another time was when I took the
students on a field trip into Jowa city. It was when I taught at
Sharon No. 2. I had this little Amish boy named Elmer. He was
probably about in 1lst grade. He was just as cute as could be, and he
had one brown eye and one blue eye. I had never seen anything like
that before, they were really brown and really blue. They put the
bowl on their head and cut their hair so he had this little blond bowl
of hair, and he had this big hat like they wear and his little barn
door pants and suspenders, and we went to Iowa City. We were touring
WSUI. They showed us, the sound effects with the horses' hooves and
the slamming of the door, and they did the news for us, and, oh, just
all kinds of things. Tt was time to go, and we were gathering up in
the lobby to go on to the museum,and there was no Elmer. So, I went
back to look for him. Well, some of the students had set him on top
of the file cabinets. They just thought he was the cutest little
think ever, and they were taking pictures of him. Oh, he was having a
ball, T got him and we went on to the museum, and we did other

things. That afternoon, before we went home, there was a drugstore
right downtown across from the Towa State Bank, where T think Panera's
is now, and it had a great big long fountain. Whetstone's was the
name of it. So, I took the kids all in there to have a treat. Elmer
was sitting up on a stool on the end and somebody from WSUI spotted
Elmer, "Oh," they said "We have to go get the others from the station
to see Elmer." It was only two blocks away, I said, "Please don't,
please don't." Elmer, T know, never forgot that day in Iowa City. We
had a wonderful, wonderful field trip.

Can you tell me a little bit about the textbooks that you used?



Project Number: Narrator: Colleen Sehr Page 19

Interviewer: Jan Losby Date of Interview: 04/10/02
Interview Length: Transcribed by: Shirley Stockman
Retyped by: Caroline wWill

I:

Yes, it was very, very carefully thought out. For example, when we
would adopt a new reading program, we would have a committee.

Mrs. Ferns would form a committee, and T know T was on that different
times. We would get samples from all different publishers, big
shopping bags full of the teacher's manual, the student's book and the
workbook for all the grades. Then we would take them home and examine
them and maybe even try them out or give the kids the books to look at
and to see which one they thought was the best laid out, that would be
the best and most appropriate. The same with social studies and
science. The books were ordered by--well, T only remember one book
store. It was called the University Bookstore. And it was right next
to where that Whetstone's Drug Store was. The parents would go in,
and they would say that they had a child in 4th grade. Then the
bookstore people would give them the books for those grades.

Did they buy them?

Yes, they bought them. Now, let's say you had a brother or sister in
4th grade a couple of years ago and they're still using that book,
then you already had the book. They bought the books. I gave them a
list of the other things they would need. T did this the last five
years I was there, because T was ending up buying a lot of the
things. So, T gave them a l1list before school started, like their
notebook and notebook paper, ruler, pencils, pen, eraser, tablet, and
etc.

Would they buy scissors and crayons and erasers?

Yes, all those things they would buy. Tt made it easier because there
was only that one bookstore that they had to deal with, and that
bookstore knew everything so well. Tt was a big part of their
business.

You said it was called the University Bookstore.

It was--and I could be wrong, but I just remember it as being the
University Bookstore.

Did people ever sell their books at the end of the school year? Could
you sell them back to that bookstore, do you know?

I don't think so. 7T don't think you could get used books. Now,
again, T might be mistaken.

What other sort of teaching aids did you have?

We had a wonderful map, you know, that you could pull down, whether
you wanted Europe or Africa, you know. All that. It was very, very
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good, and we had a globe. One summer, when I was with two boys,
former students, out at Griffith Park Observatory in Los Angeles, and
we're leaning back looking, and the one boy punched me and said, "I'll
never forget you and your flashlight on the globe showing how the sun
shown on the earth and then a smaller one for the moon, and how you
said no matter how fast or how long, no one would ever, ever be able

to get to the moon." I said, "I guess T was wrong." But those were
the kind of things we did to reinforce learning. We didn't have all

the wonderful tools they have today. But he had remembered my
flashlight on the globe years later. With all the technology that
they have had going on, it's pretty hard to compete to get some
children's attention. PBut then you could get their attention with
just darkening the room and a flashlight on a globe. I mean, it does
show how TV has changed the expectation kids have for a presentation
of something. They want something to explode and --flash and have a
drum roll.

Be entertaining.
Yes.

I can see that.

we were expected to go to summer school and to keep working toward our
degree. I don't remember--I know there were some teachers that
didn't, they were older, but I don't know how that worked.

So, you were terribly busy. You were continuing --you had your
teaching job, but then you were pursuing your further education.

Yes.

I meant to ask you, in the winter time, for either school that you
taught at, were you responsible for outside, for clearing the walk, or
shoveling.

NO.

Did someone come and do that?

Usually, it was the president of the school board.

Oh.

No, that was something that T didn't have to do, thank goodness. That
would have been a real job. At Sharon No. 2, that was such a large
building that, for instance, on a Monday morning you turned the stove



Project Number: Narrator: Colleen Sehr Page 21

Interviewer: Jan Losby Date of Interview: 04/10/02
Interview Lenagth: Transcribed by: Shirley Stockman
Retyped by: Caroline Will

down low over the weekend, so on Monday morning it was pretty cold in

there, and it took a long time for it to really heat up. If the kids
had walked to schoeol, their toes were pretty frosty. So, as I had
done when went to that school, --we would play music, like march
music, and the would march with their boots on, sometimes with their
coats on, and march and march and march. Then you'd stop the music
and they'd have to stop, and it was kind of like a little game. It
basically to warm their toes up--oh, they loved it.

And that one you said the stove was fuel oil.

Yes.
At the other school, was that also fuel o0il?

Yes. One Halloween at Willow Grove, some pranksters did a malicious
thing and cut the big tubing that led into the stove. We weren't
using the stove in October, but there was a huge fuel oil tank
outside, and that oil spilled all over. Tt was a terrible mess. Tt
was very expensive, too.

Sure.

One time they took somebody's horse and buggy and put it up on the
steps right in front of the school. Tt wasn't uncommon for them at

Sharon No. 2 to turn over the outside outhouses on Halloween. But at
Bayertown, I don't ever remember that happening.

Was there ever--did you ever have Show and Tell where people tring in
pets or --

Not, as much as they do today in, 1like, say kindergarten. Now,
remember we had kids 5 years old, and we had kids 12-13. So, we

didn't. Maybe we should have, but it seemed like we had so much to do-

we didn't have time. They would share over lunch or at recess.
Oh,--.
In such a short time that, no, we didn't.

Well, it's just--it is truly remarkable to think of in one room having
a range of ages, as well as skill and interest and attention level.

When you think back, T shouldé have really been worried about that,
rather than teaching one grade. (Ha.)

Hey, you already mastered that. It was just a breeze going to one
grade.
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But it was a wonderful, wonderful experience, and, yes, T could have
made lots, lots more money if I had been teaching in Towa City or--in
a city school system. But it was a good experience, and because I
enjoyed the kids so much, T don't regret it at all. Lots of people
say, don't you wish you had left a lot sooner. Well, T think
everything happens for a reason, so it was okay.

Well, thank you very much for sharing.

Thank you! And I hope that some people are interested in this enough
to listen to it.

Absolutely!

Okay.



